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Routing a Rebellion or Crushing a Crime Wave? 
Proclaiming Martial Law and a Call-to-Arms in Van 

Diemen’s Land, 1828-1830

Graeme Calder*

In common law countries with Westminster-style parliaments, in 
jurisprudence martial law was well understood as a prerogative of the 
Crown, to he exercised as a matter of necessity to meet the threat of 
invasion or rebellion. This royal prerogative, while not frequently 
proclaimed, was used to effect in the colonies of the British Empire to 
suppress rebellions by slaves and the indigenous peoples of the 
colonized lands.

Such was the case in Van Diemen's Land in the years 1828 to 1830, 
when Lieutenant-Governor George Arthur twice proclaimed martial 
law against the Aboriginal inhabitants of the island, and on the second 
occasion issued a call-to arms of the local settlers in order to raise a 
civilian army to assist the military in a campaign to end the murderous 
clashes between the Aborigines and the settlers. The Line Campaign or 
the (iBlack Line " as it became known was not a success in its stated 
aim of driving the Aborigines into a conjined area on Tasman's 
Peninsula, but it did succeed in driving them out of the settled areas.

This paper examines the jurisprudence of martial law and the call-to- 
arms -sometimes known as the levee en masse - as it was in the early 
part of the nineteenth century, and particidarly, as it was applied to the 
proclamations in Van Diemen's Land.

I Imperialism and Insurrection: the use of extraordinary powers in the

colonies

The histories of imperialism are replete with the narratives of indigenous peoples in 
colonized lands rising up against their imperial masters. In the years of the Second
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British Empire, commencing late in the eighteenth century, the colonization of 
lands across the globe took place from the Mediterranean to the Caribbean and from 
North Asia to the Antipodes. Lands were seized by conquest, acquired by cession, 
or often simply occupied on the basis that the indigenous peoples had no title - they 
were considered “savages” with no concept of private property, and their lands were 
a tabula rasa to be explored, named, surveyed and parcelled out to the invaders, 
settlers from other parts of the Empire. The indigenous peoples were to be civilized 
and assimilated if that was achievable; if not, they were to be pushed out, by force if 
necessary. The “savages”, not unexpectedly, often vigorously resisted such 
treatment and colonial wars between unequal forces took place - the colonizers 
with superior weaponry and numbers invariably triumphing1.

Such was the scenario in Van Diemen’s Land, occupied by the British as a penal 
settlement from 1803, and then later developed as a colony for free emigrants who 
were granted lands at little or no cost. The Aboriginal bands occupying the lands 
were swept aside and excluded by military force or by armed settlers with their 
shepherds and fences, all supported by the force of British law. The lands first 
seized and occupied lay in the northern, north-eastern and eastern parts of the 
island, where the savannah grasslands and open sclerophyll forests provide 
excellent grazing for sheep and cattle. By 1824, the huge swathe of land between 
the northern settlement of Launceston on the Tamar Estuary and the southern 
settlement of Hobart Town on the Derwent Estuary was occupied by farmers, 
441,871 acres in 1027 grants being made by the colonial government in 1823 
alone.2

Much of this land, from the east coast littoral through the Midlands to the Central 
Plateau, was the country of the Mairremmener People, a socio-linguist group of 
hunter-gatherers, comprising some twenty bands with a total number of perhaps 900 
to 1000, each band ranging from forty to sixty people. The lands seized by the 
settlers were not only the prime hunting grounds of the People, but encompassed 
the vital nomadic “roads” which provided access from the littoral to the highlands. 
These roads, used over six millennia, provided more than access to economic 
resources and trade: they were a part of the culture of the People, Tong distance 
exchange and social, ceremonial linkages’ within a cultural landscape of 
‘ceremonial centres where groups came together for social, political or ritual 
events.’3 The exclusion of Aborigines from and the effective closure of these roads 
by white occupation was a massive blow to Aboriginal culture. The first colonial 
settlements had concentrated around the river estuaries noted above, and contact 
and clashes between Aborigines and settlers had been limited. However, the 
exponential growth in settlement from the early 1820s was violently resisted by the * S.
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Mairremmener bands, which the settlers had named the “Oyster Bay” and “Big 
River” tribes, and numerous murders, maiming and property destruction occurred 
on both sides. The settlers called on the colonial government to protect them, and 
from 1824, with the arrival of Lieutenant-Governor George Arthur as viceroy of 
Van Diemen’s Land, a series of actions against the Aborigines were instituted.

This paper considers two of those actions: firstly, declarations of martial law; and 
secondly, the allied measure of the call-to-arms of civilians to aid the military - the 
so-called levee en masse. In particular, the actions are canvassed in relation to the 
“Black War” of Van Diemen’s Land in the years 1828 to 1830.

II War by Proclamation: the “Black War” of Van Diemen’s Land

The actions taken by Lieutenant-Governor Arthur in support of the settlers began 
with a proclamation in April 1828 of expulsion, requiring the Mairremmener 
People to vacate the settled districts, their traditional country, only able to return 
for annual nomadic travel between highland and coast by special permission 
granted through the issue of a passport to Their respective leaders’.4 The absurdity 
of that proclamation was patent: there was virtually no communication between 
Aborigines and settlers, as very few spoke each others’ language.5 Arthur made a 
token attempt at communicating the intent of the proclamation by having a 
pictograph distributed which, through a series of drawings, was supposed to 
demonstrate the benefits of black and white living in harmony, and the 
consequences of the reverse, with graphic illustrations of both Aborigines and 
settlers being hanged for murders. The pictographs, painted on boards, were nailed 
to trees on the extremities of the settled areas.6 Needless to say the violence 
continued and the settlers began to refer to the conflict as a ‘war’.7 In early 1829, a

Routing a Rebellion or Crushing a Crime Wave? 129
Proclaiming Martial Law and a Call-to-Arms in Van Diemen’s Land, 1828-1830

Van Diemen’s Land: Copies of all correspondence between Lieutenant-Governor Arthur and 
His Majesty's Secretaiy of State for the Colonies, on the subject of the military operations 
lately carried on against the Aboriginal inhabitants of Van Diemen 's Land, Hobart: Tasmanian 
Historical Research Association, 1971, pp. 22-24.
For example, at a public meeting held in Hobart on 22 September 1830, Mr Hackett declared 
that ‘He did not think there were 5 persons in the island who could converse with or make 
themselves understood by [the Aborigines].’ The Hobart Town Courier, 25 September 1830; 
for a criticism of the failure to study Tasmanian languages, see Baron Charles von Hiigel, New 
Holland Journal, November 1833-October 1834, (trans. & ed. Dymphna Clark), Carlton: 
Meigunyah Press, 1994, p. 144. However, as discussed under, Arthur’s proclamation was 
carefully framed to complement further actions. See also Henry Melville, The History of the 
Island of Van Diemen’s Land from the year 1824 to 1835 inclusive ..., London: Smith & Elder, 
1835, pp. 80-82.
John West, The Histoty of Tasmania, with copius information respecting the Colonies of New 
South Wales Victoria south Australia &c., &c., <£c.(A.G.L.Shaw ed.), London: Angus & 
Robertson, 1971, p. 278; James Bonwick, The Last of the Tasmanians or, The Black War of 
Van Diemen’s Land, London: Sampson, Low, Son, & Marston, 1870, pp. 83, 84.
But not, at this time, the government. In a despatch dated 4 November 1828, to Sir George 
Murray, Secretary of State for the Colonies, Lieutenant-Governor Arthur noted that ‘With the 
regard to the alarm which ... exists among the settlers ... there is no combined movement 
among the Native tribes, nor ... any such systematic warfare exhibited by any of them as need 
excite the least apprehension in the Government. ...’, Copies of all correspondence, p. 9.



130 Legal History (2008) Vo112

number of ‘roving parties’ - bands of armed civilians and convict servants under 
the overall command of Oatlands police magistrate Thomas Anstey - were formed 
to pursue, capture and expel Aborigines found within the settled districts.8 Perhaps 
as an encouragement to capture rather than kill, a reward was instituted - £5 for 
every adult Aborigine and £2 for every child.9 The ‘roving parties’ scheme was 
notable for its lack of success.

The third action initiated by Arthur was undertaken in conjunction with the 
expulsion order: a line of military posts was set up to establish the confines of the 
settled districts. However, the military had no more success than the roving parties. 
The clashes continued and murders of women and children in particular created 
uproar among the settlers. The murder of a male child and wounding of the mother 
and daughter at Green Ponds on 9 October 1828 was a catalyst for a fourth dramatic 
action.10 On 1 November 1828, Lieutenant-Governor Arthur declared martial law 
specifically against the Mairremmener People, excluding all the Aborigines and 
lands outside the country of the “Oyster Bay” and “Big River Tribes”, the settlers’ 
names for the Mairremmener bands. Again, the proclamation could not have been 
communicated to the Aborigines. However, its intent, taken in conjunction with the 
previous expulsion proclamation, was clearly more malignant. While enjoining the 
settlers to ensure ‘that bloodshed be checked as much as possible’, and ‘that any 
tribes which may surrender themselves up shall be treated with every degree of 
humanity’, the proclamation clearly proposed the use of force to compel the 
Aborigines to ‘retire into the places and portions of this island hereinbefore 
excepted from the operation of martial law’.11 As the settlers were empowered to 
assist in the expulsion, the proclamation was in effect a licence to kill without 
recourse. It proved equally as ineffective as the expulsion order in compelling the 
Mairremmener People to leave their country. By early 1830 the clashes had 
escalated, with 148 incidents occurring in 1829, including seventy-eight settlers 
killed or wounded. A further eleven settlers were killed or wounded up to 15 March 
1830.12
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Arthur was then under intense pressure to act in defence of the settlers. While all of 
his proclamations had enjoined the settlers to act with humanity, and his own 
inclination, based on his evangelical beliefs, was to act humanely and within the 
oft-repeated directives of the Colonial Office ‘to employ every means which 
kindness, humanity and justice can suggest’, Arthur instituted an extreme measure 
aimed at finally ending the war, which he now conceded was taking place.13 By 
Government Order No. 9 of 9 September 1830, he called on all settlers

to cheerfully render [their] assistance, and to place [themselves] under the direction 
of the police magistrate of the district in which [their farms are] situated [so that] a 
sufficiently numerous volunteer force will thus be raised, that, in combination with 
the whole disposable strength of the military and police, and by one cordial and 
detennined effort, will afford a good prospect of either capturing the whole of the 
hostile tribes, or of permanently expelling them from the settled districts.

The order was accompanied by a set of detailed instructions on the disposition of 
the force raised, with the intention of driving the Aborigines southwards by means 
of a line of men onto Tasman’s Peninsula, where they could be confined by a picket 
across the narrow East Bay Neck.14 This military campaign became popularly 
known as the “Line Campaign” or the “Black Line”. Perhaps in the light of the 
recent history of the French Revolution, the call-to-arms became known as a levee 
en masse.'5 By a proclamation of 1 October 1830, the Lieutenant-Governor 
extended and continued martial law over the whole of Van Diemen’s Land.

The Line Campaign employed two thousand two hundred soldiers and civilians and 
their assigned servants, and swept southwards more or less along a commencement 
line extending from the Meander River to St. Patrick’s Head in the north, through 
the lower parts of the Central Plateau to the coast, and ending at Sorell on 24 
November 1830.16 The campaign resulted in the capture of one Aborigine and a 
boy. It had cost some £35,000 from the colonial treasury, and Arthur’s critics, 
especially the colonial press, condemned it as ‘a most complete failure, as any 
reasonable man might have anticipated.’17 Others viewed the campaign in the light 
of Arthur’s stated aims. While he did endeavour to capture the Aborigines within 
the settled districts, the second aim was to expel them, and the effectiveness of that 
aim can be measured by the record of clashes between Aborigines and settlers in the
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following year, when the numbers fell to sixty-six (from two hundred and twenty- 
two in 1830).18 The vast majority of these later clashes took place outside the 
country of the Mairremmener People. The Colonial Office expressed muted 
approval, the Secretary of State noting that ‘your operations have not altogether 
failed in their object.’19 The campaign also proved a great boon to the economy of 
the colony, especially to the merchants of Hobart Town and the farmers and millers 
who supplied enormous quantities of tea, sugar, shoes and other goods, and flour 
and meat to the campaign commissary.20 It can be argued that, contrary to the 
opinions of contemporary and subsequent critics (such as the virulent criticism of 
surveyor and historian James Erskine Calder)"1, the campaign was also a success on 
other grounds. The tiny remnant of the Mairremmener bands - perhaps not more 
than one hundred people during the campaign22 - on its abandonment ceased to be 
rebels and outlaws liable to be killed on sight, and once more came under the 
protection of the British Crown as subjects.23 The merchants, farmers and millers 
and the colony as a whole benefited economically, as noted above. Arthur’s career 
did not suffer to any extent as he remained in Van Diemen’s Land until 1836, and 
received later appointments to more senior posts in Upper Canada and the 
Presidency of Bombay. Questions that remained unanswered centred on the form 
and legality of the declaration of martial law and the call-to-arms, and are discussed 
next, particularly in relation to the received laws of war at the time.

Ill The Laws of War: martial law and civilian armies

The conduct of international wars up to the early nineteenth century was subject to 
a form of accepted laws not formally legislated by states, but generally observed. 
For example, Hugo Grotius’ De Jure Belli Ae Pads Libri Tres of 1625 became the
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4 tour de force ’ of writings on the laws of international wars.24 However, as Morris 
Greenspan noted, the conduct of wars not international in nature were regulated by 
the domestic laws of the states concerned.25 The several rebellions in British 
colonies, perhaps with the exception of the American Revolution, were always 
regarded as the concern of the Empire, and the power to suppress lay with the 
Crown or its representative in the form of the respective colonial viceroys. As noted 
above, Lieutenant-Governor Arthur twice proclaimed martial law in the years 1828 
to 1830. His power to do so was undisputed, the justification for the proclamation 
somewhat less so.26 The question revolved around the received interpretation of the 
common law in the early nineteenth century, and of the status of “martial law” 
within the common law. Arthur was the superintendent and commandant of the 
Belize settlement in Honduras from 1814 to 1822, a command under the control of 
the Colony of Jamaica, making Arthur subordinate to the Governor, the Duke of 
Manchester. In this post Arthur would have observed the declaration of martial law 
following a rebellion in Barbados in 1816, and perhaps, from a distance, the 
declaration of martial law in Demerara in 1823. This latter declaration resulted in 
the court-martial of the missionary John Smith, who was sentenced to death for his 
role in the rebellion, and the case resulted in a parliamentary debate in England on 
the legality of declarations of martial law. A motion to reject the right of the Crown 
to make any such declaration was defeated, and the status quo remained. Expressed 
by Sir James Mackintosh, the laws of the United Kingdom held that

The only principle on which the law of England would tolerate what is called Martial 
Law is necessity: that Martial Law put in force against rebels and enemies was only 
a more regular and convenient mode of exercising a right to kill in war, a right 
originating in self-defence and limited to those cases where such killing is necessary 
as a means of insuring that end; put in force against rebels it can only be excused as a 
mode of more deliberately and equitably selecting persons from whom quarter ought 
to be withheld, in a case where all have forfeited their claim to it: it was nothing more 
than a better regulated decimation, founded on choice instead of chance, to provide 
for the safety of the conquerors without the horror of undistinguished slaughter, 
justifiable only where it is an act of mercy, by the law of England it could not be 
exercised except where the jurisdiction of the Courts of Justice is interrupted by 
violence.27

This colourful exposition of the law, made at a time and place when it would have 
come to Arthur’s notice - he was in England during the debate - made plain a 
number of preconditions required of the Crown. First, there had to be a war or a
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rebellion amounting to war against the Crown. Secondly, the jurisdiction of the 
judiciary had to be ‘interrupted’. Thirdly, the enemies or rebels had to have 
forfeited their right to ‘quarter’. The exposition also made plain that the declaration 
conferred a right to kill enemies or rebels without quarter. Blackstone, in the 
Commentaries, confirmed that this definition reflected the state of the law at that 
time, when he noted that

Martial Law is built on no settled principles, but is entirely arbitrary in its decisions, 
and is in truth no law but something indulged rather than allowed as law, a temporary 
excrescence bred out of distemper of the state, and not any part of the permanent and 
perpetual law of the kingdom. The necessity of order and discipline is the only thing 
which can give it countenance, and therefore it ought not be pennitted in the time of 
peace when the King’s Courts are open for all persons to receive justice according to 
the law of the land.28

In short, martial law was not part of the common law (or of military law); it was in 
fact a suspension of the common law through necessity, and could only be 
exercised as a prerogative of the Crown ‘in case of domestic danger arising from 
foreign invasion or native insurrection to which both civilians and soldiers are 
equally subject, and which is enforced by military authority’.29 The emphasis in this 
definition was that “martial law” was not “military law”, and that acts done as the 
result of its promulgation were not justiciable in common law courts or courts- 
martial. Its effect was entirely arbitrary, and at the discretion of the representative of 
the Crown in the district in which the law was imposed, and habeas corpus was 
suspended. This was the received law in 1824, when George Arthur assumed his 
post as Lieutenant-Governor of Van Diemen’s Land, and he had an immediate 
precedent of the application of martial law. Just one month before he assumed his 
post, martial law had been proclaimed by Governor Brisbane over the Aboriginal 
peoples of the western districts of New South Wales, west of Mount York, on 14 
August 1824. Over a period of four months the 40th Regiment sought to engage the 
Wiradjun People without much success, after which Brisbane repealed the 
proclamation. Its tenor was similar to the later proclamations made by Arthur in 
Van Diemen’s Land.30
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From the parliamentary debates that followed the Demerara affair noted above, it is 
clear that the British Parliament was uncomfortable as to the standing of martial law 
as a Crown prerogative, especially given the ability to suspend all common law 
rights without recourse or parliamentary or legal oversight. This discomfort was 
reflected at a later time in the case of a declaration of martial law in 1865 by 
Governor Edward Eyre of Jamaica, a declaration made under an Act of Indemnity, 
but contested as to right and limits in the High Court before a grand jury. The grand 
jury refused to return a bill declaring the Act of Indemnity invalid, but ‘made a 
formal presentment that Martial Law should be more clearly defined by legislative 
enactment.’31 The rebellion in Jamaica aroused considerable and extended debate 
on the foundations and application of martial law. The rebellion of the Jamaican 
slaves had been confined to a relatively small part of the island, and the 
proclamation of martial law made by Eyre was restricted to that area. The rebellion 
was rapidly suppressed by the military, but martial law was maintained for thirty 
days. During that time, 439 black Jamaicans were shot or executed following courts 
martial, and a further 600 flogged, ‘in some cases with revolting cruelty’. Some 
twenty white settlers were killed by the rebels.32 While the massacre of the slaves, 
particularly the summary executions, was the subject of criticism by ‘Christian and 
missionary groups [and] prominent Liberal and Radical parliamentarians’ (and 
where Eyre’s actions were supported by conservatives), the primary concern was 
the execution of George Gordon, a ‘coloured landowner-politician’, accused of 
fomenting the rebellion.33 The debate initially took the form of legal arguments over 
the jurisprudence of martial law, given that it was considered an ‘obsolete’ power 
within the kingdom proper. The debate resolved into two schools: the first holding 
that the Petition of Right had removed the prerogative of the Crown to declare 
martial law; the second that it remained a right in times of necessity. While both 
sides maintained a year-long argument - less over the actual declaration, given the 
danger posed by the rebellion, but more over the legalities of the subsequent trials 
and punishments by courts-martial - the Colonial Office and Secretary of State 
Edward Cardwell had no doubts, Eyre’s action in declaring martial law being 
approved following opinions given by the Crown’s law officers. However, there 
was more circumspection over the extent to which punishment might be inflicted 
without recourse to the common law.34 The debate engendered considerable 
literature, including a weighty text by William Finlason supporting the Crown’s 
prerogative, and arguments for and against in distinguished legal journals such as 
the Law Times and the Solicitors ’ Journal Newspaper debate also took place, with 
articles for and against solicited in liberal and conservative papers. In particular, six 
letters written by Frederic Harrison denying the existence of a power to punish

Routing a Rebellion or Crushing a Crime Wave? 135
Proclaiming Martial Law and a Call-to-Arms in Van Diemen's Land, 1828-1830

Phillimore, above, pp. 56-58.
R.W.Kostal, A Jurisprudence of Power: Victorian Empire and the Rule of Law, Oxford: 
Oxford University Press, 2005, pp. 12, 13.
Pp. 13-15.
Pp. 192-255. This extended reference covers the whole of Chapter four - ‘The Tenets of 
Terror: Reinventing the Law of Martial Law'. The whole chapter is dedicated to sometimes 
convoluted legal argument, primarily between liberal and conservative lawyers outside the 
Whig government.



136 Legal History ’ (2008) Vol 12

rebels under martial law, published in the Daily News, played an influential role. 
The results were inconclusive. While the debates acknowledged that ‘martial law, 
all but moribund in England, had been resurrected in the crucible of Empire’ 
through the necessity of suppressing rebellions of slaves or indigenous peoples, 
there was the fear that it may be again open to use domestically.35 As Kostal pointed 
out, in the event the debate resolved into a series of polemics taking a side of 
politics suiting the respective case; ‘the legal discourse on martial law was politics 
by other means.’36

As a product of the debate, the numerous instances of proclamations of martial law 
in the colonies had been reviewed, especially those where the lives of settlers had 
been taken: rebellions such as Demerara, noted above, and the Jamaica rebellion of 
1831, where 626 rebels were tried by courts-martial, and 312 were executed. Mary 
Reckord pointed out that ‘Violent protest against slavery had been endemic in 
eighteenth-century Jamaica; the outbreaks occurred on average every five years’.37 
The rebellions in Cephalonia in 1848, Ceylon in 1848, and especially during the 
Indian Mutiny in 1858, where the Cawnporc massacre of women and children 
aroused public ire, again came under scrutiny.’8 However, during this debate, the 
Van Diemen’s Land proclamations were not discussed, unusually in the sense that 
Arthur had been given specific power to declare martial law in his commission, as 
had all governors of New South Wales, whereas this was apparently not the case in 
Jamaica, or in other colonies. A factor of difference in the role of the Australian 
colonies as penal settlements, initially under military control, probably dictated the 
need for delegation of the royal prerogative to the governors. As well, violent 
suppression of slave revolts appeared of less moral concern than actions against 
indigenous peoples, especially under Whig governments, where the influence of the 
evangelicals in their “civilizing” role demanded humane treatment of the 
“savages”.39 In the case of Jamaica, the enabling power given to Eyre was under an 
act of the Jamaica legislature, a contested delegation in the event.40 The Jamaica 
controversy, in the end, had no tangible effect on the status of martial law in the 
corpus of British law; the status quo remained. Codification in various forms 
subsequently took place, primarily by way of Acts of Indemnity following specific 
declarations of martial lav/, but in British common law jurisdictions, martial law
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itself remained uncodified 41 It was the agreed opinion of all sides of politics that 
there remained the need for an extreme punitive power such as martial law within 
the disparate colonies of the Empire, with their polyglot and potentially dangerous 
populations of convicts, slaves and indigenes - an imperial power, the use of which 
was to be dictated by necessity. Martial law proclamations were to be reserved for 
use only in the colonies; the possibility of the use of the prerogative at home was a 
concern and a worry to both sides of politics, and not to be considered. It was an 
attitude ‘rooted in racial anxiety about white communities in the empire.’42

Arthur’s government order of 9 September 1830 calling upon settlers to join the 
military in the Line Campaign has been referred to as a levee en masse, a term 
which acquired a legal status under the laws of war and armed conflicts in the latter 
part of the nineteenth century. The term was first used in France in 1793, when the 
new republic faced invasion by the First Coalition of Prussia, Austria and Spain. 
The mobilization of the civilian population - the call-to-arms - was decreed in 
August 1793, establishing the principle of the ‘nation-in-arms’, but was soon 
abandoned by the Convention.43 Orville Murphy has pointed out that the French 
were influenced by the citizen armies raised by the colonists during the American 
Revolution, part of the concept of the nation-in-arms determined to preserve its 
liberties against an oppressor.44 It would be likely that the raising of citizen armies 
was well known to Arthur, as, in a memorandum written on 20 November 1830 at 
the conclusion of the Line Campaign, he wrote that ‘it became necessary to call 
upon the inhabitants to rise “en masse”, and enrol themselves for this particular 
service ...,45 That phrase is redolent of the call-to-arms by the Convention, noted 
above. While armed settlers had in the past been called upon in New South Wales 
and Van Diemen’s Land to assist in subduing riots or hunting bushrangers, this call 
to rise en masse was unique in Australian history, and was actually the raising of a 
civilian army of considerable size in the contemporary context. The use of the term 
levee en masse soon gained universal currency when the Line Campaign was 
discussed. Jorgen Jorgenson, for example, in A Narrative of the Habits, Manners, 
and Customs of the Aborigines of Van Diemen's Land, written sometime in 1840, 
referred to the ‘levy en masse’ at length.46 The anthropologist H. Ling Roth, writing 
in 1899, referred to Governor Arthur’s ‘general levy of the population’.47
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The principle of the nation-in-arms was gradually codified as citizen armies were 
raised to fight both international and domestic wars. The term levee en masse was 
continually used in reference to the principle. An example is found in President 
Lincoln’s General Order No. 100 - Instructions for the government of Armies of the 
United States in the Field - of 24 April 1863 (known as the ‘Lieber Instructions’), 
where article 51 dealt with a ‘duly authorized levy en masse\ Article 10 of the 
Final Protocol of the Brussels Conference of 1874 conferred belligerent status on 
‘the population of a territory ... who, on the approach of an enemy, spontaneously 
take up arms to resist the invading troops’, provided they respected the laws and 
customs of war, a principle repeated in the Manual published by the Institute of 
International Law (the Oxford Manual) on the Laws of War on Land in September 
1880. The levee en masse was defined and given world-wide formal status by 
Convention (IV) Respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land (the Hague 
Convention) on 18 October 1907. Article 2 of the Regulations, subtitled the Levee 
en masse, provided that

The inhabitants of a territory which has not been occupied, who, on the approach of 
the enemy, spontaneously take up arms to resist the invading troops without having 
had time to organize themselves ... shall be regarded as belligerents if they carry 
arms openly and if they respect the laws and customs of war.

This provision was repeated in the Geneva Conventions of 1949.48 From these 
codes it can be seen that the interpretation of the call-to-arms under later definitions 
was significantly different from that intended by George Arthur.

IV Rebels or Criminals? The justification for declaring martial law.

Given the accepted requirements for declarations of martial law in the British 
Empire at this time, the question first to be posed is whether or not the clashes 
between the military, the settlers and the Aborigines constituted a war within the 
contemporary meaning of the term. As noted above, the settlers continually referred 
to the clashes as ‘war’. In April 1828, Lieutenant-Governor Arthur, in a despatch to 
Sir George Murray, Secretary of State for the Colonies, referred to the Aborigines 
as ‘open enemies’; in a later despatch of 4 November he referred to the ‘lawless 
warfare which has lately been carrying on between the Natives and the settlers and 
stockmen’. By June 1831, after the conclusion of the Line Campaign, the then 
Secretary of State for the Colonies, in a despatch to Arthur, referred to the ‘unhappy 
beings whom you were forced to treat as enemies’.49 In a despatch of April 1830 to 
Sir George Murray, Arthur referred to the Aborigines ‘exploits in the pursuit of 
plunder’, a term clearly distinguished from the criminal act of robbery, and always
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associated with warfare.50 At this time when the clashes between settlers and 
Aborigines were at their height, numerous references in the colonial press and in 
official documents noted the plundering and burning of houses and huts and the 
firing of haystacks, acts associated with irregular warfare such as the guerrilla wars 
of the then proximate Peninsula Campaign in Spain.51 In the years 1828 to 1830, 
Plomley noted twenty-one huts fired, two hundred and fifty huts plundered, thirty- 
eight firearms taken and three stacks destroyed by fire, as well as large numbers of 
stock speared or dispersed.52 The definitive official position was expressed by the 
Executive Council of Van Diemen’s Land in the minutes of its meeting held on 27 
August 1830:

It appears to the Council now, as it did nearly two years ago, that the wanton and 
barbarous murders committed by the Natives indiscriminately ... on men armed and 
unarmed, and on defenceless women and children, can be considered in no other light 
than as acts of warfare against the settlers generally .. , 53

The language used by officials and settlers in respect of the clashes, and the very 
nature of the organization of the Line Campaign itself - military in form, complete 
with a commissary, campaign mapping and battle plans - would indicate that a state 
of war existed by 1828.

The existence of a state of warfare was dismissed by Keith Windschuttle in The 
Fabrication of Aboriginal History, Volume One. He claimed that 'for the guerrilla 
warfare thesis to be credible, these acts [the clashes between settlers and the 
Aborigines] have to be elevated above the level of crime or revenge.’ The two 
"elevating” qualities required were, firstly, a political objective, and secondly, a 
form of political organisation to achieve the political end. Windschuttle claimed 
that, in the absence of any statement made by the Aborigines during the Black War 
that expressed a patriotic or nationalistic sentiment, the clashes amounted to a series 
of criminal acts committed by the Aborigines.54 Inasmuch as there are no records of 
the opinion of any Mairremenner person during the years of the Black War, apart 
from the conversation between Black Tom (Kickerterpoller) and Lieutenant- 
Governor Arthur in 1828, concocted by Henry Melville, Windschuttle is correct.55 
However, he overlooked or simply dismissed the role of one party to the conflict -
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the British Government in the form of George Arthur, whose actions converted the 
situation into a state of war, regardless of the objectives or motives of the 
Aborigines. The ‘political objective’ necessary for the ‘elevation’ of the conflict 
was Arthur’s, and the clashes were taken out of the realms of criminality by 
Arthur’s actions, particularly by the declarations of martial law. Whether or not the 
Aborigines had a political organisation capable of enforcing their own or even 
resisting an opponent’s political objective is moot. The records of the settlers from 
the earliest times, beginning with the Risdon Cove affair in 1804, indicated the 
ability of the Mairremmener People to gather in massed numbers, which in itself 
implied some form of political organisation. As noted above, even after the Line 
Campaign the miniscule remnant of the People rallied en masse late in 1831, when 
the attempt was made to pen them on the Freycinet Peninsula. The surveyor and 
historian James Erskine Calder believed that the bands assembled for political 
purposes when he noted that Robinson had failed ‘to say one word about [the 
Aborigines’] general assemblies of confederated tribes, which they are known to 
have held, probably to concert measures relating to war.’ Calder cited an example 
of such a meeting place west of George Town, described by W. B. Walker in 
December 1827.56

The second precondition for the declaration of martial law was the existence of a 
rebellion, which, on British territory, constituted a war against the Crown. Leaving 
aside the question of the status of the Aborigines as British subjects, the common 
law in relation to rebellion at the beginning of the nineteenth century was 
summarised in the British Government’s reaction to the Irish Rebellion of 1798. 
The open rebellion of such political groupings as the United Irishmen and the 
Defenders was joined by small groups of agrarian raiders in western Connacht 
engaged in the houghing of stock, raising uproar among the region’s gentry. Their 
actions were considered treason, and the government was encouraged to send troops 
to suppress the ‘outrages’. Several houghers were apprehended and tried for 'having 
assembled at an unlawful hour, tendering and taking unlawful oaths, and ... 
houghing cattle on the lands of Ballygar’.57 The trial was by court-martial, as 
martial law had been proclaimed by the Lord Lieutenant on 24 May 1798.58 In 
many cases of houghing the raiders ‘left threatening notices demanding that the 
flesh of the maimed cattle be distributed to the poor’.59 It could not be said that 
these raiders had a sophisticated political organisation, although it had been claimed 
that their actions were ‘attempts to block the conversion of land from tillage to less
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labour-intensive commercialised grazing.'60 The raiders were nonetheless 
considered rebels, and treated as such under martial law. The point of difference 
with the Black War in Van Diemen’s Land lies in the nature of the combatants. The 
Irish raiders could be regarded as “civilized”, whereas the Mairremmener People, in 
British eyes, remained at the lowest end of the scale of human existence; that is, 
they were uncivilized savages.61 The objections raised by Windschuttle in relation 
to warfare, namely, the absence of the two ‘elevating qualities’, may therefore be 
equally raised to a claim of rebellion. A case in a common law jurisdiction apposite 
to the question, decided in 1901, is that of Montoya v United States. The United 
States Supreme Court held that

The depredations of a band of Indians, as hostile acts against the government and all 
settlers with whom they came in contact, constituted evidence of an act of war.62

As in the debate on the question of the existence of a state of warfare, the party 
overlooked in determining the question was the Crown itself, in the person of the 
viceroy. It can be argued that Arthur carefully orchestrated his actions in order to 
place the Mairremmener People in a state of rebellion, and therefore outside the law 
and at war with the Crown. The first action taken - the proclamation of April 1828, 
expelling the People from the settled districts - established a particular law directed 
specifically at the Mairremmener, a law incapable of enforcement as acknowledged 
by Sir George Murray, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, in his despatch to 
Arthur of 20 February 1829, when he noted

the extremely difficult task of inducing ignorant beings ... to acknowledge any 
authority short of absolute force, particularly when possessed with the idea which 
they appear to entertain in regard to their own rights over the country.. ,63

The legality of this proclamation, while approved by Sir George Murray and which 
in effect summarily banished or exiled British subjects, was questionable under the 
common law.64 Nonetheless, it established a law with the severest of penalties; that
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is, capture, forcible removal, or, in the last resort, deadly force. Although proved to 
be unenforceable, it established a ground which, upon the breach, enabled Arthur to 
carry out his second action towards war, the first proclamation of martial law on 1 
November 1828. Following that proclamation the Mairremmener People were 
rebels and outlaws, enemies of the Crown, subject (in spite of the enjoining of the 
settlers to check ‘bloodshed’) to summary justice. The final actions - the 
establishment of a civilian army and the formation of the Line Campaign by 
Government orders of 9 and 22 September 1830, and the second declaration of 
martial law on 1 October 1830 - amounted to a declaration of war against the 
Mairremmener People.65

A course of action that Arthur may have considered at an early stage as an 
alternative to the drastic measures eventually taken was the use of the Riot Act (at 
that time, 1 Geo. 1, st. 2, c. 5 [1714]). While that legislation was directed at the 
repression of public disturbances and provided ‘a particularly flexible basis for 
exercising authority over gatherings’, its impracticability in the circumstances 
existing in Van Diemen’s Land is easily demonstrated in the method of its 
application. It required the reading of a statutory proclamation by a justice of the 
peace, requiring a crowd to disperse within the hour, failing which the justice was 
able to call upon deadly force (the military) to disperse them. The legislation was 
clearly directed at the riotous crowds that assembled in urban areas in eighteenth 
century during the Industrial Revolution and was hardly relevant to the situation in 
Van Diemen’s Land.66 Another course of action was suggested by Frank Munger, 
who drew attention to the common law offence of constructive treason, proscribing 
gatherings which ‘assaulted the prerogative of the state’ in its attempt to quell 
disturbances, an offence punishable by death, and which thus provided a severe 
alternative to the Riot Act.67 It was probably this part of the common law that was 
used to convict the Irish raiders in western Connacht. It would seem however, that 
neither law would have aided Arthur in the circumstances applying in 1828.

V “I HAVE A Plan”: the motivation for a declaration of war.

The proposition that George Arthur carefully constructed a means of declaring war 
on the Van Diemen’s Land Aborigines is based on his recognised skills as a
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colonial administrator, together with his overweening ambition to succeed in the 
colonial service. John West, a severe critic of the Lieutenant-Governor, writing 
proximately in 1852, spent nine pages of The History of Tasmania laying out the 
faults of Arthur’s character and administration, but concluded in noting that he 
‘cannot be withdrawn from the rank of eminent functionaries; and his 
administration, on the whole, is entitled to more than respectful remembrance.’68 
Shaw, in his biography of Arthur, noted that

Supervising everything, [Arthur’s] energy surpasses belief ... his watchfulness was 
‘Argus-eyed’, for ... the success of the system ‘hinges most entirely upon the zeal 
and efficiency of this Government; if the minutest Regulation be not observed, the 
most extensive mischief must follow to a measure of great national importance’.69

The testament to this zeal and efficiency reposes in the Tasmanian Archives: 
thousands of official documents there record the whole of Arthur’s actions during 
his term as Lieutenant-Governor. Many other individuals were condemnatory of 
Arthur’s ‘zeal’. Alexander Maconochie, writing in 1838, claimed that Arthur ‘was 
clever, but not able; a good detailed administrator, but with no breadth or compass, 
in his general views.’70 James Erskine Calder, a more virulent critic (and one with 
first-hand acquaintance with and knowledge of the Lieutenant-Governor), noted the 
great energy Arthur devoted to the records of his administration, but claimed that 
‘These qualities [of hard work, acuteness and a zeal for religion] served the sole 
purpose for which he seemed to live, namely, his own advancement beyond all 
others, and the emergence of his family from poverty to affluence, which he 
achieved.’71 This comment perhaps reflected, somewhat excessively, the ambition 
for success and advancement that Arthur displayed throughout his colonial service.

Outside the commission and the instructions given to them, the role of colonial 
governors was not the subject of a detailed description of how to perform their 
tasks. As Mark Francis has pointed out, while a governor received ample 
instructions on the need for and manner of providing routine administration, 
defence of imperial policies and civic facilities, he was also subject to criticism on 
questions of ‘reform policy, democracy, monarchy, sovereignty, authority versus 
power, and the nature of government itself, political and legal questions requiring 
extensive knowledge and ability beyond administrative competence.72 Francis noted 
that ‘the Colonial Office possessed a few vague rules as to the type of person who 
was eligible to be a governor and as to their subsequent career structure ... An
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example of such rule was that governors were seldom chosen from “the pure 
colonial class’”.73 In referring to Lower Canada, the Under-Secretary of State for 
the Colonies, James Stephen, considered that a governor should maintain ‘a severe 
regard to justice, and to the constitutional rights of the King’s subjects of every 
class, he might [then] acquire a large and legitimate influence’.74 Early governors 
were, in the main, drawn from the military - examples abound in Australia, from 
Arthur Phillip through to Lachlan Macquarie - as were many of the subordinate 
officials. After 1820, fewer military men were appointed, ‘Poor Law 
Commissioners, Oxford dons, explorers, magistrates, and Members of Parliament’ 
receiving appointments’, all having in common ‘the possession of some 
administrative experience’ receiving appointments instead.75 There is no doubt that 
patronage played a major role in securing appointments, as did the need to find 
employment for military men who had retired on half-pay, or who were no longer 
commissioned.76 It was also a useful qualification to be aligned with the ideology of 
the government of the day, and to the prevailing moral beliefs and teachings, 
particularly in the era of the anti-slavery movement and the Evangelical Revival.77 
While the ‘vague rules’ of the Colonial Office on appointments of viceroys 
provided little help in determining fitness for the position, once employed in the 
colonial service administrators came under close supervision, within the limitations 
of the time taken to confer on issues. Officials who had performed well in 
subordinate roles often received appointments to higher office, an example being 
David Collins, first Judge-Advocate, then secretary to Arthur Phillip, the first 
governor of New South Wales. Collins was appointed the first Lieutenant-Governor 
of Van Diemen’s Land, in part recognition of his admirable work in the past, but 
also following a lengthy search for a patron, and persistent lobbying.78

In a similar vein, George Arthur received his appointment in part through the 
recognition of his good work at Belize: however, patronage played an important 
role. Shaw pointed out that Arthur was on good terms with William Wilberforcc, 
‘as well as other evangelicals, such as the elder and younger James Stephen, 
Foxwell Buxton, and Zachary Macaulay, who had influence at the Colonial Office.’ 
Arthur’s evangelical beliefs would have been a significant and persuasive 
qualification for the Van Diemen’s Land post.79 In his staunch belief in Whig 
ideologies, such as humanitarianism, and particularly in development and progress 
in new colonial societies (involving both the education of the settlers and the 
“civilizing” of the Indigenes), Arthur , as Francis has pointed out, was ‘one of a 
professional core of governors’ such as Sir George Gipps, Sir Richard Bourke, Sir
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Charles Fitzroy, Sir William Denison, Sir George Grey, and others, all of whom had 
significant influence in the formation of the Australian colonies.80

Aside from the disapproval and criticism noted above, most commentary on 
Arthur’s administration conceded that his knowledge of the role and duties of 
governor of a colony was profound, and that he took pains to act within the law of 
the land. He frequently sought the opinion of his Solicitor-General, Alfred Stephen, 
and also the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court Of Van Diemen’s Land (and 
Executive Councillor), Sir John Pedder.81 He was also careful to add weight to his 
decisions by conscripting influential support for them: an example being the 
appointment of the Aborigines Committee in 1830 to advise Arthur on the 
appropriate steps to counter the violent clashes between Aborigines and settlers. 
The appointees were all prominent officers of the administration or influential 
settlers, and the committee was chaired by Archdeacon William Grant Broughton, 
the Bishop of New South Wales and head of the Church of England in Australia, 
who was visiting Van Diemen’s Land at the time. This committee largely rubber- 
stamped Arthur’s decisions on martial law and the Line Campaign, and later 
supported his use of George Augustus Robinson on the conciliatory missions used 
to round up the remnant Aboriginal bands for exile to Flinders Island.

VI A Satisfactory Conclusion

As noted above, the Line Campaign and its associated actions received the approval 
of the Colonial Office and the British Government. It was certainly approved by the 
majority of the settlers, as the Aborigines were driven out of most of the settled 
districts. Arthur’s ambitions were achieved inasmuch as he remained at his post 
until 1836, his twelve-year incumbency being the longest for any viceroy of Van 
Diemen’s Land. His subsequent posts in Upper Canada and the Presidency of 
Bombay were considered to be promotions. Created a baronet in 1840, his personal 
fortune grew over the years and on his death in 1854, Sir James Stephen, ‘friend 
and colleague for more than thirty years took great pleasure in recalling "‘with what 
courage and energy and uprightness and ability and devotion of heart” Arthur had 
performed his duty’.82

The depth of Arthur’s knowledge of the law and practice of colonial administration 
was demonstrated in the Black War. Each step taken as described above was a 
calculated measure aimed at a conclusion which would pacify the settlers and expel 
the Aborigines from the settled districts. It was in fact a carefully constructed plan,
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facilitated by a knowledge of martial law, and by an appeal to the settlers in the 
call-to-arms. However, the actions should also be viewed in a political, rather than 
legal sense, in the same manner that Governor Eyre’s actions in the Jamaica 
rebellion of 1865 were viewed in the subsequent debate: that is, while couched in 
legal terms, in reality the declarations of martial law and the call-to-arms were 
‘politics by other means’. Arthur had walked the fine line of placating his settler- 
subjects and satisfying his masters at the Colonial Office, while, at the same time 
and given the circumstances, limiting the injuries to the remnant Aboriginal bands. 
The ‘great war in miniature’ was a legal and practical success.8’

Appendix

British Subjects or Enemy Aliens? The Legal Status of the 
Mairremmener People

The question of the status of Aborigines in the Colony of Van Diemen’s Land is 
incidental to the jurisprudence of martial law during the period of the Black War, 
inasmuch as the power of Lieutenant-Governor Arthur to declare martial law was 
founded in the commission of and instructions to Governor Ralph Darling on his 
assumption of the position of Governor in Chief of the Colony in 1825. Those 
instructions authorised Darling to

levy, arm, muster, command and employ all persons whatsoever, residing in the said 
island and its dependencies ... and, as occasion shall serve, to march them from one 
place to another, or to embark them for the resisting or withstanding all enemies, 
pirates and rebels ... and being taken according to law to put to death, or keep and 
preserve alive at your discretion; and to execute Martial Law in time of Invasion, or 
at other times when by law it may be executed.

These powers were assumed by Arthur on the departure of Darling from the Colony 
on the 6 December 1825, as noted in a proclamation made on 12 December 1825.84 
From that date, the Lieutenant-Governor unquestionably had the power to both 
declare martial law and to make a call-to-arms of the civilian population. The power 
to proclaim martial law was, however, limited by the caveat of ‘in time of invasion, 
or at other times when by law it may be executed.’85 If the exposition of martial law 
made to the British Parliament by Sir James Mackintosh, as noted above, can be 
taken as the received law at that time, then the Mairremmener People would have to 
be regarded as rebellious British subjects, yet that status was not completely clear, 
and the following comments briefly state the law as it was known at the time.

The rules relating to the import of the common law into colonized lands was 
expressed in Chapter 4 of Book 1 of Blackstone’s Commentaries, following 
Calvin’s Case; that is
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If an inhabited country be discovered and planted by British subjects, all the English 
laws are immediately there in force. But in conquered or ceded countries, that already 
have laws of their own, the King may indeed alter and change those laws; but till he 
does actually change them, the antient laws of the country remain, unless such as are 
against the law of God, as in the case of an infidel country.

The difficulty that immediately presented itself in the cases of New South Wales 
and Van Diemen’s Land came in the legal status of the Indigenous inhabitants. As 
Evans et al. pointed out, The presence of Indigenous peoples seriously confounded 
colonial intentions’.86 The newly-colonized lands were not conquered, ceded or 
uninhabited. The question was resolved, if not legally but in a practical sense, by 
denying the right of prior ownership of the land to the Aborigines, and declaring 
that it belonged to no one - the issue discussed at the beginning of this paper in 
relation to colonization as a process. The “uninhabited” land therefore became the 
sovereign property of the Crown, and the common law was the law of the land. It 
would follow that all those living in the colonized lands would be subject to the 
common law87: yet, as Jean Woolmington has pointed out, that position raised 
‘several complicated legal questions’ in the case of the Aboriginal inhabitants. 
These included the inability of the Aborigines to swear the accepted Christian oath 
before the law; their ignorance of the workings of the law and the barriers of 
language; and the standing of the law where Aborigines committed crimes among 
themselves.88 The complications are reflected in the relatively few prosecutions for 
crimes committed by Aborigines under the common law, especially in Van 
Diemen’s Land - the celebrated cases of the failure to prosecute the captured 
Aborigine Eumarrah for murder in 1828, and the inaction over the murders of 
Captain B. B. Thomas and his superintendent Parker at Port Sorell in 1831 being 
prime examples.89

The status of the Van Diemen’s Land Aborigines was established to some extent by 
government order made by the first Lieutenant-Governor, David Collins, on 7 
January 1805. Referring to his commission and instructions from the King, he noted 
that he was ordered to ‘place the Native Inhabitants ... in the King’s Peace, and to 
afford their persons and Property the Protection of the British Law’, and his order
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served to inform the Aboriginal inhabitants accordingly.90 Under this order, it 
would seem that ‘protection’ was something less than the status of subject, and it 
certainly failed to acknowledge the rights to land ownership.91 A further measure of 
the confusion as to the status of Aborigines is reflected in a despatch dated 14 July 
1825, from Earl Bathurst, Secretary of State for the Colonies, to Governor Darling, 
which accompanied his commission as governor of New South Wales.. In referring 
to the clashes between settlers and the Aborigines, Bathurst directed that

you will understand it to be your duty, when such disturbances cannot be prevented 
or allayed by less vigorous measures, to oppose force by force, and to repel such 
Aggressions in the same manner, as if they proceeded from subjects of an accredited 
State.92

This instruction was passed onto Arthur in Hobart. Its ambivalence with regard to 
the status of the Aborigines is patent: the inference is that they were alien enemies 
when committing acts of aggression, but perhaps not when they retired peaceably 
from the settlements.

The confused state of the law as to the status of Aborigines is also reflected in two 
decisions of the Supreme Court of New South Wales before the declarations of 
martial law in Van Diemen’s Land. The first case - R v Johnston, Clarke, 
Nicholson, Castles, and Crear [1824] - before Forbes CJ, concerned assault 
terminating in death of an Aboriginal woman at O’Connell Plains, near Bathurst. 
The defence used the terms of a proclamation by Governor Macquarie of 4 May 
1816, prescribing that ‘no black native, or body of black natives, shall ever appear 
at or within one mile of any town, village, or farm, occupied by or belonging to any 
British subject, armed with any warlike or offensive weapon ... on pain of being 
deemed and considered in a state of aggression and hostility, and treated 
accordingly.’ The implication in the proclamation is clear: the Aborigines were not 
British subjects.93 In the second case - R v Lowe [1827] - before Forbes CJ and 
Stephen J, an army lieutenant was accused of summarily shooting an Aboriginal 
man who was in his custody. The defending lawyer, Dr. Warded, argued that the 
Aborigine was not, and could not be subject to British law, as ‘his tribe has not been 
reduced under His Majesty’s subjection, and because there has been no treaty, 
either expressed or understood, between his country and that of the British King ..’ 
The Chief Justice held that ‘If the Act of Parliament has recognised the application 
of English law here, we must look to British law as established as established here 
de facto ... this native must be considered, whatever be his denomination, a British
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subject.’94 On the other hand, two cases in Van Diemen’s Land demonstrated no 
such confusion. In the first case - R v Musquito and Black Jack [1824] - two 
Aborigines (Musquito was a native of New South Wales) were accused of 
murdering a stock-keeper at Grindstone Bay. Apparently, neither accused were 
sworn, and neither fully understood the proceedings.95 The jury found Musquito 
guilty, but acquitted Black Jack. Both were then arraigned on further charges of 
murder of ‘Mammoa’ an ‘Otaheitcan’ companion of the murdered stock-keeper, but 
were both acquitted. Black Jack was later tried on 19 January 1826 for the murder 
of settler Patrick McCarthy on the Ouse River, and found guilty. Both Aborigines 
were hanged on 24 February 1826.96 In the case of R v Jack and Dick [1826], 
before Pedder CJ, two Aborigines were found guilty by a jury of the murder of a 
stock-keeper at Oyster Bay, and were hanged. The cases were savagely criticised by 
the Colonial Times newspaper and others, pointing in part to the difficulties noted 
by Woolmington above, especially concerning language. Henry Melville, in 
particular, raised the point that the Aborigines were not acquainted with British 
laws, or of the evidence given against them. He claimed the trials to be ‘a 
mockery’.97 A number of contemporary observers considered the trials and 
hangings of Aborigines in Van Diemen’s Land to be punitive, and a warning to the 
Aborigines engaged in the clashes with settlers.98 However, Lieutenant-Governor 
Arthur always cloaked himself with the law, and clearly treated the executed men as 
British subjects, even though, in numerous later cases of captured Aborigines, he 
declined to apply those laws.99

Perhaps the definitive precedent of the age was established in the case of R v 
Murrell and Bummaree [1836] before Forbes C.J, Dowling J. and Burton J. in the 
Supreme Court of New South Wales, in the year Lieutenant-Governor Arthur was 
recalled from Van Diemen’s Land. Two Aboriginal men, Jack Congo Murrell and 
George Bummaree, were accused of the murder of two other Aborigines, Pat Clary 
and Bill Jabinguy, the first time that a case had been brought for offences between
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Aborigines. The lawyer for the defendant Murrell, Sydney Stephen, argued that 
Murrell was not subject to the laws of Britain ‘because he was not a subject of the 
British Crown’. His argument relied on Blackstone’s view, as noted above; that is, 
the lands inhabited by Murrell’s People before the British occupation were 
regulated by their own usages and customs, and that their lands had never been 
conquered or ceded by treaty. The court’s decision on this point turned on the 
question of sovereignty. Although it was accepted that the Aboriginal peoples were 
free and independent, they were not sovereign nations, as they had not ‘attained to 
such a situation in point of numbers and civilization as a nation - and to such a 
settled form of government and such settled laws that civilized nations may and are 
bound to know and respect them.’ Not possessing sovereignty, which now resided 
in the British crown by virtue of the rights of ‘Domain and Empire’ and by Acts of 
the Imperial Parliament, the accused was subject to British law. Demurrer was 
allowed, and Murrell was eventually tried. However, the evidence against him 
lacked the corroboration of other Aborigines who could not be sworn, and he was 
acquitted by a jury.100 This precedent, confirming that Aborigines were British 
subjects and establishing the principle that Aboriginal tribes were not sovereign 
nations, was and is the law maintained to the present.

As a final comment, Marilyn Wood has noted the ‘inconsistencies, ambiguities and 
occasional indifference found in the bureaucratic inscription of Aboriginal identities 
by the state and its church agencies.’ In following the hypothesis of Michael 
Hcrzfeld on the processes of exclusion, she considered that ‘the ambiguous and 
inconsistent treatment of Aboriginal people reflected the wider social perception 
that people who were observably Aboriginal were not acceptable as members of the 
wider community’101 - a continuous policy of social exclusion provided the 
justification for both dispossession and inaction on humanitarian issues. It might be 
added that, in the case of Van Diemen’s Land, it provided a justification for a war.
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